FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/25/2022 8:11 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 100835-0

(Court of Appeals No. 55455-1-II)

Amie McKean,

Respondent,

٧.

Josh Thomas,

Petitioner.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Chris Rosfjord, WSBA #37668 Attorney for Petitioner Josh Thomas

> ROSFJORD LAW PLLC 715 14th Avenue North Estherville, IA 51334 (206) 321-4849

V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	Factua	al Background	4	
	B.	Proce	dural History	7	
VI.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED				
	Α.	a Lan Fraud Dispu Unack	Court Should Accept Review to Clarify When dlord (or Tenant) May Invoke the Statute of s, RCW 59.18.210, When Neither Party tes the Terms of a Signed, but knowledged Lease Agreement of More Than Year	10	
		1.	The <u>Stevenson</u> Decision, thus the Court of Appeals Decision in This Case, Conflicts With this Court's Precedent Concerning Unacknowledged Leases	11	
		2.	Even If the Court Believes the Three-Part Test of Part Performance Is Appropriate in the Case of An Unacknowledged Lease of More Than One Year, the Lower Courts Need Guidance Concerning the Significance of Each Factor	15	
		3.	The Court of Appeals Erred in Its Application of the Three-Part Test for Part Performance	17	
		4.	The Public Interest Will Be Served by This Court's Review	19	
VII.	CON	CLUSIC	N	22	
VIII.	RAP ·	18.17 C	ERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANC3	22	
APPE	NDIX .	1: Cour	t of Appeals Decision, March 15, 2022		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

CASES

Ben Holt Industries, Inc. v. Milne, 36 Wn.App. 468, 675 P.2d						
1256 (1984) 14, 15						
<u>Gattavara v. Cascade Petroleum Co.,</u> 27 Wash.2d 263, 177 P.2d 894 (1947)						
<u>Metropolitan Bldg. Co. v. Curtis Studio</u> , 138 Wash. 381, 244 P. 680 (1926)						
Miller v. McCamish, 78 Wn.2d 821, 479 P.2d 919 (1971)						
<u>Powers v. Hastings,</u> 20 Wn. App. 837, 582 P.2d 897 (1978)						
<u>Stevenson v. Parker</u> , 25 Wn.App. 639, 608 P.2d 1263 (1980) 10, 11, 12						
STATUTES AND RULES						
Proclamation 20-19 of Governor Jay Inslee						
Proclamation 20-19.1 of Governor Jay Inslee						
Proclamation 20-19.2 of Governor Jay Inslee						
Proclamation 20-19.3 of Governor Jay Inslee						
Proclamation 20-19.4 of Governor Jay Inslee						
RCW 59.18.210						
RCW 59.18.290						
SECONDARY MATERIALS						
49 Am.Jur. Statute of Frauds § 578 (1943)						

I. INTRODUCTION

In December 2016, Petitioner began renting Respondent's property in Port Orchard, Washington (the "Property") under a one-year lease agreement. In December 2017, Petitioner's tenancy was briefly extended by a written month-to-month lease until March 2018, when the Parties signed an 18-month lease for the Property. Then, in September 2019, the Parties again extended Petitioner's tenancy by signing a two-year lease for the Property.

In a subsequent unlawful detainer action, Respondent sought to invalidate the two-year lease signed in 2019 by invoking the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210, in order to circumvent Governor Jay Inslee's moratorium on evictions for non-payment of rent during the COVID-19 pandemic. Rather than proceeding with the eviction for non-payment of rent, Respondent changed the basis of the eviction to the "owner intent to occupy the premises" exception to the Washington moratorium on evictions for non-payment of rent.

In order for Respondent to take advantage of the "owner intent to occupy the premises" exception, Petitioner had to be a month-to-month tenant. Respondent, however, had signed a lease agreement with Petitioner through August 31, 2021, which

Respondent does not deny. Therefore, Respondent argued that the two-year lease signed in September 2019 was invalid under the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210, simply because the lease was not acknowledged.

However, in Miller v. McCamish, this Court stated:

The purpose and intent of the statute of frauds is to prevent fraud, and not to aid in its perpetration, and courts, particularly the courts of equity, will, so far as possible, refuse to allow it to be used as a shield to protect fraud, or an instrument whereby to perpetrate a fraud. [T]he courts will endeavor in every proper way to prevent the use of the statute of frauds as an instrument of fraud or as a shield for a dishonest and unscrupulous person[.]¹

In this case, neither Respondent nor Petitioner disputes that the Parties signed the two-year lease. Neither Respondent nor Petitioner dispute any of the terms of the two-year lease. Indeed, it was Respondent who drafted the two-year lease agreement and insisted on the two-year term. Respondent has no basis for invoking the statute of frauds, other than to circumvent the eviction moratorium.

Despite clear evidence that Respondent's sole purpose for invoking the statute of frauds was to take advantage of an exception to the moratorium on evictions for non-payment of rent,

-

¹ Miller v. McCamish, 78 Wn.2d 821, 825, 479 P.2d 919 (1971) (citing 49 Am.Jur. Statute of Frauds § 578 (1943)).

the trial court found that the statute of frauds rendered the two-year lease invalid and that Petitioner had a month-to-month tenancy on the Property. Although the Court of Appeals overturned the eviction due to insufficient notice, the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's ruling on the statute of frauds issue.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Josh Thomas, the appellant in the Court of Appeals.

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the decision of the Washington Court of Appeals - Division Two, filed March 15, 2022, affirming the Kitsap County Superior Court's ruling that the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210, applied to the two-year lease between Petitioner and Respondent and established a month-to-tenancy for Petitioner. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix 1.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should grant review because there is a split amongst the divisions of the Washington Court of Appeals regarding the appropriate test to apply in determining the applicability of the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210, to a signed, but unacknowledged, lease of more than one year, the terms of

which neither party have disputed.

2. Whether the Court of Appeals decision in this case raises issues of public interest because Washington law is unclear regarding the applicability of the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210, to a signed, but unacknowledged, lease of more than one year, the terms of which neither party disputes.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In September 2019, Petitioner Josh Thomas and Respondent Amie McKean signed a two-year lease (the "Lease") on the property located at 7554 Long Lake Road SE in Port Orchard, Washington (the "Property").²

Petitioner had been renting the Rental Property from Respondent since December 2016. The initial lease was for a term of one year with rent of \$2,100.00 per month. At the end of the initial lease term, Petitioner and Respondent briefly entered a month-to-month lease, before signing an 18-month lease extension beginning March 1, 2018 with rent of \$2,800.00 per month.³

In September 2019, Petitioner agreed to sign another extension, with substantially increased rent, based on Respondent's promises to finally make certain repairs and

² CP 5-9 (Complaint).

³ CP 49, 53-57 (Declaration of Josh Thomas, Thomas Exhibits 1 and 2).

improvements to the Rental Property, as well as Respondent's promise to work out the terms of a private sale of the Rental Property to Petitioner.⁴ The two-year lease term was at the request of Respondent, as she stated in an email, "I put two years to make the bank happy for my re-fi".⁵

Despite Respondent's representations and Petitioner paying the substantially higher rent, Respondent failed to make the necessary and promised repairs and improvements or to take any steps towards starting them. In December 2019, Petitioner informed Respondent that he felt she was taking advantage of him and using the increases in rent to fund her other real estate ventures and that she had no intention of making any repairs or improvements at the Rental Property. Respondent responded by telling Petitioner to never contact her again.⁶

On January 8, 2020, Petitioner filed a lawsuit against Respondent for violations of her duties as a landlord, as well as other violations of Washington's Residential Landlord-Tenant Act (Kitsap County Superior Court Case No. 20-2-00070-18).⁷

-

⁴ CP 53-54 (Declaration of Josh Thomas, Thomas Exhibits 1 and 2 (highlighted portions)).

⁵ CP 53-54 (Declaration of Josh Thomas, Thomas Exhibits 1 and 2 (highlighted portions)).

⁶ CP 76 (Declaration of Chris Rosfjord, Rosfjord Exhibit 1, Page 10, ¶ 60(c) and Declaration of Josh Thomas, ¶ 4).

⁷ CP 64-81, 47 (Declaration of Chris Rosfjord, Rosfjord Exhibit 1 and Declaration of Josh Thomas, ¶ 4).

On February 10, 2020, Respondent filed a retaliatory unlawful detainer action against Petitioner, asserting non-payment of rent under the two-year lease agreement (Kitsap County Superior Court Case No. 20-2-00325-18). Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the prosecution of both actions was delayed.

On March 18, 2020, Governor Jay Inslee issued Proclamation 20-19, which prohibited evictions for non-payment of rent during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Before and after Governor Inslee issued his initial Proclamation 20-19, Petitioner has been unable to find work. Petitioner is a software engineer, and, in his industry, the COVID-19 pandemic caused employers to drastically reduce the number of available positions. Many times, employers condensed multiple positions down into a single position. So, instead of having five openings, an employer might only have one - though that person would be required to perform the duties of five people. In January 2020 and March 2020, Petitioner was offered jobs that he was fully prepared to accept and in the process of accepting, when he received word from the potential employers that the positions had been eliminated due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Petitioner continued to look for work daily without success.⁸

⁸ CP 48-49 (Declaration of Josh Thomas, ¶ 8).

In August 2020, after Governor Inslee had signed three additional extensions of the moratorium on evictions for nonpayment of rent (Proclamations 20-19.1, 20-19.2, and 20-19.3) and had just extended the moratorium to October 15, 2020, Respondent voluntarily dismissed her original unlawful detainer action based on non-payment of rent.9 Respondent then filed the case underlying the appeal, seeking eviction of Petitioner based on the exception to the eviction moratorium allowing for evictions when the owner intended to occupy the rented property. Respondent alleged for the first time that the two-year lease agreement with Petitioner was invalid under the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210, because the lease was not acknowledged. Respondent does not dispute signing the two-lease or any terms therein.

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On August 29, 2020, the day after the dismissal was signed in Respondent's original unlawful detainer action for non-payment of rent, Respondent had the 60-day notice of intent to occupy and to vacate served on Petitioner. 10 The Notice did not contain an affidavit from Respondent, only the signature of her attorney stating

 ⁹ See Dkt. for Kitsap County Superior Court Case No. 20-2-00325-18.
 ¹⁰ CP 36 (Affidavit of Amie McKean).

that Respondent intended to occupy the Rental Property. Moreover, the Notice does not cite to the exemption in Governor Inslee's eviction moratorium or that Respondent is relying on any such exemption.¹¹

On November 3, 2020, Respondent filed her unlawful detainer action against Petitioner seeking eviction of Petitioner. Respondent alleged in her complaint that the two-year term of the Lease was invalid under the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210. Respondent further alleged that under the statute of frauds, the Lease was a month-to-month lease and, therefore, Respondent could proceed with an eviction because she intended to occupy the premises. Neither the Complaint or Affidavit of Respondent cite to the specific Proclamation, or provision therein, that Respondent was relying on when serving the Notice to Vacate or the Complaint.¹²

On December 3, 2020, Petitioner filed his Answer to the Complaint for Unlawful Detainer and Opposition to the Motion for Writ of Restitution. Petitioner argued that Respondent was estopped from asserting that the statute of frauds, RCW

-

¹¹ ld

¹² CP 1-13 (Summons and Complaint) and 14-36 (Affidavit of Amie McKean).

¹³ CP 41-46 (Answer), CP 47-63 (Declaration of Josh Thomas), and CP 64-81

⁽Declaration of Chris Rosfjord).

59.18.210, invalidated the two-year lease term because Respondent did not dispute that she had agreed to and signed the two-lease year agreement and did not dispute that the parties had agreed to a two-year term. Petitioner further argued that Respondent's new unlawful detainer action was just a continuation of her previous unlawful detainer action for non-payment of rent and that she was abusing the "owner intent to occupy" exemption to evict Petitioner for non-payment of rent in violation of Governor Inslee's moratorium on evictions for non-payment.

On December 4, 2020, the parties appeared before Kitsap County Superior Court Judge Jennifer Forbes for the show cause hearing on Respondent's motion for writ of restitution. Following oral arguments of counsel, Judge Forbes granted Respondent's order on show cause and signed the writ of restitution in favor of Respondent and permitting the eviction of Petitioner.

On December 8, 2020, the Kitsap County Sheriff's Office delivered the eviction notice to Petitioner at the Rental Property.

On December 14, 2020, Petitioner had completely vacated the Rental Property in compliance with the eviction notice.

On March 15, 2022, the Washington Court of Appeals -

Division Two issue its decision. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that the two-year lease was invalid under the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210, that Petitioner had a month-to-month tenancy, and, therefore, Respondent could proceed with an eviction under the "owner intent to occupy the premises" exception to Washington's moratorium on evictions for non-payment of rent. Although the Court of Appeals determined Respondent could proceed with an eviction under the exception, the Court of Appeals determined that the trial court erred in issuing a writ of restitution because Respondent's 60-day notice of intent to occupy did not comply with the requirements of Proclamation 20-19.4.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Court Should Accept Review to Clarify When a Landlord (or Tenant) May Invoke the Statute of Frauds, RCW 59.18.210, When Neither Party Disputes the Terms of a Signed, but Unacknowledged Lease Agreement of More Than One Year.

In its decision, the Courts of Appeals determined that the statute of frauds, RCW 59.18.210, applied to the two-year lease agreement between Petitioner and Respondent. The Court of Appeals relied upon the Division Three Court of Appeals' decision

Appendix

¹⁴ Appendix 1.

in <u>Stevenson v. Parker</u>¹⁵, which relied in part upon this Court's determination in <u>Miller v. McCamish</u>¹⁶, as well as the Division One Court of Appeals decision in <u>Powers v. Hastings</u>¹⁷, that part performance in the case of an oral lease is sufficient to remove it from the statute of frauds.

There are significant distinctions between the facts in this case and the <u>Stevenson</u> case and the facts in the <u>Miller</u> and <u>Powers</u> cases, as well as significant factual distinctions between the case at hand and the <u>Stevenson</u>, <u>Miller</u>, and <u>Powers</u> cases. These factual distinctions are important to the determination of the sufficiency of part performance necessary to remove the Petitioner's two-year lease from the statute of frauds.

First, unlike the <u>Miller</u> and <u>Powers</u> cases, this case and the <u>Stevenson</u> case did not involve an oral lease agreement. Rather, both this case and the <u>Stevenson</u> case involved a signed, but unacknowledged, written lease agreement.

Second, unlike the <u>Miller</u>, <u>Powers</u>, and <u>Stevenson</u> cases, this case does not involve a lease with an option to buy the property.

1. The <u>Stevenson</u> Decision, thus the Court of Appeals Decision in This Case, Conflicts With this Court's

¹⁵ Stevenson v. Parker, 25 Wn. App. 639, 608 P.2d 1263 (1980).

¹⁶ Miller v. McCamish, 78 Wn.2d 821, 479 P.2d 919 (1971)

¹⁷ Powers v. Hastings, 20 Wn. App. 837, 582 P.2d 897 (1978).

Precedent Concerning Unacknowledged Leases.

In <u>Stevenson</u>, the Division Three Court of Appeals relied on the three-part test set forth in <u>Powers</u> to determine whether on not there was sufficient part performance to remove an unacknowledged lease of more than one year from the statute of frauds. The Court of Appeals applied this same three-part test in the case at hand and looked at the following factors:

(1) delivery and assumption of actual and exclusive possession of the land, (2) payment or tender of the consideration, whether in money or property or services, and (3) the making of permanent, substantial and valuable improvements, referable to the contract.¹⁸

In discussing the first factor of possession, the <u>Stevenson</u> case specifically recognized this Court's prior decisions in <u>Gattavara v. Cascade Petroleum Co.</u> and <u>Metropolitan Bldg. Co. v. Curtis Studio of Seattle</u> that possession of the property and treating the lease as a measure of the parties' right is "sufficient waiver of the right to avoid a lease for lack of an acknowledgment." In <u>Metropolitan Bldg.</u>, this Court found that "[w]hile other matters could

¹⁸ Appendix 1, page 8 (citing <u>Stevenson v. Parker</u>, 25 Wn. App. 639. 644, 608 P.2d 1263 (1980) (quoting <u>Powers v. Hastings</u>, 20 Wn. App. 837, 847, 582 P.2d 897 (1978)).

¹⁹ <u>Stevenson v. Parker</u>, 25 Wn. App. 639. 644, 608 P.2d 1263 (1980) (citing <u>Gattavara v. Cascade Petroleum Co.</u>, 27 Wash.2d 263, 265-66, 177 P.2d 894 (1947); <u>Metropolitan Bldg. Co. v. Curtis Studio of Seattle</u>, 138 Wash. 381, 386-87, 244 P. 680 (1926)).

be cited sufficient to work an estoppel, this long acquiescence in the terms of the lease is alone sufficient for that purpose."²⁰

Even though this Court determined in Metropolitan Bldg. that possession and treating a written lease as a measure of rights is sufficient to overcome an unacknowledged lease, the court in Stevenson and the Court of Appeals in this case still applied the entire three-part test for part performance. However, as noted above, the three-part test for part performance was developed in cases where there was an oral lease agreement with an option to buy the property.²¹

In cases like the case at hand, where there is a signed, but unacknowledged, lease agreement of more than one year, in which the parties do not dispute that the agreement was signed and do not dispute any of the terms of the lease, there is no reason for courts to engage in the three-part test of part performance. This Court made that clear in the Metropolitan Bldg. case.²²

Moreover, in this case, the lease agreement did not contain an option to buy. Thus, the third part of the test - the making of

²⁰ Metropolitan Bldg. Co. v. Curtis Studio of Seattle, 138 Wash. 381, 387, 244 P. 680 (1926).

²¹ See Miller v. McCamish, 78 Wn.2d 821, 825, 479 P.2d 919 (1971) and Powers v. Hastings, 20 Wn. App. 837, 847, 582 P.2d 897 (1978).

²² Metropolitan Bldg. Co. v. Curtis Studio of Seattle, 138 Wash. 381, 387, 244 P. 680 (1926).

permanent, substantial and valuable improvements - is wholly unnecessary as no standard residential lease would contain provisions for making improvements to the property.

In <u>Ben Holt Industries</u>, <u>Inc. v. Milne</u>, the Division One Court of Appeals - in a decision that occurred after the decision in <u>Stevenson</u> - found that the existence of an unacknowledged lease of more than a year, which neither party denied they had signed, plus the lessee's possession of the property and payment of rent was sufficient to satisfy the "quantum of proof" requirements.²³ As in this case, <u>Ben Holt Industries</u> did not involve a lease with an option to buy, just an unacknowledged lease of more than one year. Thus, unlike in <u>Stevenson</u>, the court in <u>Ben Holt Industries</u> did not apply the same three-part test for part performance, but instead relied on a two-part test set forth in <u>Miller</u>.²⁴

According to <u>Ben Holt Industries</u>, the party seeking enforcement of an unacknowledged lease of more than one year must prove 1) the existence of the agreement by clear and unequivocal evidence; and 2) the acts relied on show part

-

²³ <u>Ben Holt Industries, Inc. v. Milne</u>, 36 Wn.App. 468, 474-476, 675 P.2d 1256 (1984).

²⁴ <u>Ben Holt Industries, Inc. v. Milne</u>, 36 Wn.App. 468, 474-476, 675 P.2d 1256 (1984).

performance "point to the existence" of the agreement.²⁵ The signed, but unacknowledged, lease was sufficient to satisfy the first factor, and possession and payment of rent were sufficient to satisfy the second factor.²⁶

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