FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/4/2022 11:34 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100835-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMIE MCKEAN,

Respondent,

v.

JOSH THOMAS,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Carrie E. Eastman, WSBA 40792
Matthew V. Pierce, WSBA 42197
SANCHEZ, MITCHELL, EASTMAN & CURE, PSC 4110 Kitsap Way, Suite 200
Bremerton, Washinton 98312
360-479-3000
cee@spinnakerbldg.com

Attorneys for Respondent McKean

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

² See GR 14.1.

The Residential Landlord Tenant Act's statute of frauds treats unacknowledged leases as oral leases and converts them into a month-to-month tenancy:

Tenancies from year to year are hereby abolished except when the same are created by express written contract. Leases may be in writing or print, or partly in writing and partly in print, and shall be legal and valid for any term or period not exceeding one year, without acknowledgment, witnesses or seals.

RCW 59.18.210; see Stevenson v. Parker, 25 Wn. App. 639, 643, 608 P.2d 1263 (1980). By failing to deny McKean's allegation, Thomas already admitted that RCW 59.18.210 required the lease to be treated as a month-to-month lease. Thomas's arguments to the trial court and the Court of Appeals focused on estoppel. CP at 186, 189-93; RP at 12:6-8, 12:15-21, 14:11-23, 18:5-19; see RP at 11:10 to 12:4, 13:2-10; see also Opening Br. at 14-21 (No. 55455-II) (April 23, 2021); Reply Br. at 1-4 (No. 55455-II) (June 11, 2021).

Thomas cannot now challenge the application and effect of RCW 59.18.210, which he admitted. And he cannot raise

new arguments here that he did not preserve below. This Court should deny review. To the extent this Court wishes to entertain Thomas's petition as seeking review on the issue of estoppel, it should still deny review because he does not satisfy any prong of RAP 13.4(b).

B. The Court of Appeals' decision here does not conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Thomas cites three cases that he claims conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision. Petition at 10-15. None of these cases conflict with the decision, and review should be denied.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(2), review is appropriate if the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals. Here, there are only two cases that cite RCW 59.18.210, excluding the Court of Appeals' decision below. See W. Plaza, LLC v. Tison, 184 Wn.2d 702, 714, 364 P.3d 76 (2015); Stevenson, 25 Wn. App. at 642. This Court's decision in West Plaza, LLC, addressed the Mobile Home Landlord Tenant Act, and thus has no bearing here. See 184 Wn.2d at

714. The only potential decision that could be in conflict is *Stevenson*. However, there is no conflict and review must be denied.

In *Stevenson*, the residential landlord, Stevenson, obtained a judgment for unlawful detainer against the residential tenant, Corbray née Parker. 25 Wn. App. at 640. The lease was a year-to-year lease that continued from year-to-year, which violated RCW 59.18.210. *Stevenson*, 25 Wn. App. at 640, 642-43. Division Three then considered the doctrine of part performance to determine whether the landlord could assert "the invalidity of a contract where the other party has acted in conformity with the contract and thus placed himself in a position where it would be intolerable in equity to deny its enforcement." *Stevenson*, 25 Wn. App. at 644.

First, the court considered that Corbray took possession under the lease in May 1974—more than <u>four years</u> before Stevenson sought to terminate the lease. *Stevenson*, 25 Wn. App. at 641, 644. Division Three concluded that this four-year

period of possession under the lease was considered "long acquiescence" under this Court's decisions interpreting RCW 59.04.010. *Stevenson*, 25 Wn. App. at 644. Division Three cited cases where commercial tenants had been in possession under leases for more than five years and seven years. *Gattavara v. Cascade Petroleum Co.*, 27 Wn.2d 263, 265, 177 P.2d 894 (1947) (describing a commercial tenant in possession from 1940 to 1945 who invoked a renewal for an additional five years in 1945); *Metro. Bldg. Co. v. Curtis Studio of Seattle*, 138 Wash. 381, 383, 387, 244 P. 680 (1926) (describing a commercial tenant in possession from 1917 to 1924).

Second, Division Three noted that, although there was an "irregular arrangement regarding the payment of rent," the tenant had "made substantial payments under the lease prior to service of the notice of termination," and, when she received notice of termination, she "attempted to tender a sum in satisfaction of the alleged delinquencies." *Stevenson*, 25 Wn. App. at 644.

Third, Division Three noted that both parties agreed the tenant had leased the house in the hope of exercising an option to purchase at the end of five years and she had improved the house following execution of the lease. *Stevenson*, 25 Wn. App. at 644-45.

Here, none of the factors described in *Stevenson* favor estoppel. The undisputed evidence in the Record is that:

- Thomas first suggested a two-year lease; McKean just wanted to know what length of lease Thomas wanted; Thomas told McKean he wanted "at least 2 years" for the lease; and after a month had already passed and the previous lease had expired, McKean sent him a lease with a duration consistent with his previous statement and that her lender needed. CP at 55, 54, 52; see CP at 58-59.
- McKean mentioned to Thomas the possibility of voiding the lease if she sold the property in 2020, so Thomas knew the lease might end early. CP at 59.
- Thomas was in possession under the lease at issue starting in September 2019, and he then stopped paying rent in December 2019—a mere three months after signing the lease. See CP at 12, 15 (¶ 5).
- Despite eviction proceedings being brought for nonpayment of rent, Thomas did not tender payment of unpaid rent. See CP at 15 (¶ 5).

• The lease did not contain an option to purchase, and it included a provision allowing McKean to show the property to prospective purchasers who were not the tenant. CP at 9 (¶ 8).

Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Stevenson*. Thomas was not in possession under the lease for multiple years before he stopped paying rent and McKean sought to terminate the lease. Thomas did not pre-pay rent, stay current with rent, or tender full payment when eviction proceeding were brought. Thomas did not make substantial improvements to the property in anticipation of purchasing the property or exercise an option to purchase the property. In fact, the lease agreement did not include an option to purchase and the parties only discussed the possibility of Thomas purchasing the property.

Thomas also cites and discusses the cases of *Ben Holt Industries v. Milne*, 36 Wn. App. 468, 675 P.2d 1256 (1984) and *Powers v. Hastings*, 20 Wn. App. 837, 582 P.2d 897 (1978), suggesting they conflict with Division Two's decision.

Petition at 10-15. Thomas fails to recognize numerous key differences between this case and those decisions.

Ben Holt involved a commercial lease for office space between two corporate entities, which necessarily does not involve RCW 59.18.210. 36 Wn. App. at 469. Ben Holt involved lease that was acknowledged, but the acknowledgment was accidentally defective—both parties failed to use the correct acknowledgment language for corporations "specified in RCW 64.08.070." 36 Wn. App. at 470. The tenant in *Ben Holt* took possession and paid rent for almost year, only stopped paying rent when it vacated without notice, and never notified the landlord it believed it was a month-to-month tenancy (i.e., that it was void or voidable). 36 Wn. App. at 476. Further, in Ben Holt, the court determined that "[t]here was sufficient acquiescence under the terms of the lease to invoke the doctrine of part performance" and that "[a]llowing a technical flaw in the acknowledgment to invalidate the lease" would be inequitable. 36 Wn. App. at 476.

None of the facts or factors at play in *Ben Holt* arise in this case.

Like Ben Holt, the decision in Powers does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision. The three-year oral lease in Powers was for farmland—not ordinary residential property—and it had an option to purchase the property for \$185,000 with a down payment. 20 Wn. App. at 838-39, 844. The tenant in *Powers* paid rent and did so for more than a year. 20 Wn. App. at 843-44 ("Powers paid the rent . . . and occupied the house in about August, 1973 [until s]ometime in November, 1974 "). There was no argument that the three-year lease became a month-to-month tenancy, and the parties apparently acknowledged the oral lease through in-court testimony about written, notarized affidavits setting forth the lease's terms. Powers, 20 Wn. App. at 845. Further, the tenant in Powers spent \$14,250 improving the property, paid rent for over a year at \$1,000 per month under the lease, then paid escalated rent at \$1,500 per month for a time, and both rental rates "were far in wn. App. at 847-48. And the tenant in *Powers* ran into difficulties with obtaining financing to exercise the option and purchase the property because the landlord refused to give the tenant a written lease that corresponded with the oral lease. 20 Wn. App. at 840. It was in this context that the court in *Powers* reversed the trial court's decision and remanded to allow the tenant to pursue his action for damages for breach of the lease and the option agreement. 20 Wn. App at 838-40, 846-48.

Thomas fails to establish that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals. Review should be denied on this ground.

C. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Supreme Court Decisions.

Thomas seemingly contends that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decisions. *See* Petition at 15-19. It does not, and review should be denied.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), review is appropriate if the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with binding precedent from this Court.

This Court's decisions have never held that a short period of possession and payment of rent estop a landlord from invoking the statute of frauds. See, e.g., Labor Hall Ass'n v. Danielsen, 24 Wn.2d 75, 77, 97, 163 P.2d 167 (1945) (affirming a trial court decision allowing termination of the lease by a landlord where the tenant possessed the property for 10 months before receiving a notice of termination, the landlord received nothing "other than the agreed rent," and the tenant made no physical improvements to the property). In fact, this Court has stated that estoppel does not apply where a tenant merely takes possession and pays rent—the tenant must do something more for there to be an injustice to support estoppel:

[U]nder the theory of estoppel, there must be some element of benefit to the landlord aside from the rent reserved, or some injustice to the tenant that a court of equity will not tolerate; as, for instance where the landlord has made the lease conditioned upon some alteration or improvement that would enhance the value of the property, or where the value of the property lies in the taking of an annual crop. In other words, the mere possession, the payment of rent, and the conduct of a business in the usual way and for the sole benefit of the tenant, unaccompanied by circumstances which will create a consideration going to the term, will not make an oral lease from month to month a term lease resting in estoppel.

Armstrong v. Burkett, 104 Wash. 476, 479, 177 P. 333 (1918); see Labor Hall Ass'n, 24 Wn.2d at 98 (citing and quoting this passage).

Had Thomas taken possession and made a payment of rent for the entire two-year term of the lease—i.e., consideration going to the entire term—then an estoppel argument could have succeeded. *See Jones v. McQuesten*, 172 Wash. 480, 482-83, 20 P.2d 838 (1933) (noting that property was transferred at the beginning of the lease period to the lessor as part of the two-year lease); *Haggen v. Burns*, 48 Wn.2d 611, 615, 295 P.2d 725 (1956) (quoting an allegation that the tenant purchased an inventory from the landlord, valued at \$1,857.03,

which could not be sold until the end of the term); see also Matzger v. Arcade Bldg. & Realty Co., 80 Wash. 401, 403, 406-07, 141 P. 900, 901 (1914) (describing how the tenant was required to and did pay \$3,000 for stock in an unrelated company that "was practically worthless" and tenant paid a \$2,200 bonus to induce the lease).

This Court's decision in *Miller v. McCamish*, 78 Wn.2d 821, 479 P.2d 919 (1971) does not change the analysis. *Miller* did not involve possession—it involved the sale of a property to another and the only question was whether Miller could recover wages and an increase in value to a farm after he had improved the property and planted permanent crops. 78 Wn.2d at 824, 831. *Miller* does not support Thomas's position.

By contrast, Thomas was in possession in September 2019, paid monthly rent until December 2019, and then proceeded to never pay rent again. Thomas did not improve the property. And the unacknowledged leased did not give Thomas an option to purchase the property—Thomas and McKean had

only discussed the possibility of her selling it at some point in the future. No precedent from this Court supports Thomas's contention that McKean should be estopped from asserting that the lease is subject to the statute of frauds and was a month-tomonth lease that could be terminated upon notice. Review should be denied on this ground.

D. The Court of Appeals' decision does not present a matter of substantial public interest.

Thomas fails to establish that there is "substantial public interest" to justify review—instead he rehashes his erroneous arguments about the cases he already cited and reiterates his view of the facts. Petition at 19-22. Thomas falls far short of establishing that the decision presents a "matter of substantial public interest." Review should be denied.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) review is appropriate if the "petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." The petition must clearly explain the public interest at issue:

A petition that relies on RAP 13.4(b)(4) should, at a minimum, discuss why the particular issue has ramifications beyond the particular parties and the particular facts of an individual case. A bare recitation that a case affects the public interest will not be sufficient to convince the court to grant review.

2 WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE DESKBOOK §18.2 (Catherine Wright Smith & Howard M. Goodfriend, eds., 4th ed. 2016). For example, a substantial public interest might arise if the Court of Appeals' decision will generate "unnecessary litigation," "create confusion," "chill policy actions," "immediately affect[] significant segments of the population," or have some other wide-ranging effect. See, e.g., Grant Cty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004).

Here, the case does not affect the public interest. This case does not involve a question of first impression and does not arise frequently—the most recent case cited by Thomas is 38 years old. *See Ben Holt*, 36 Wn. App. at 468. Further, the Court of Appeals agreed that this is not a case of public interest

or even worthy of review by this Court—it did not publish the decision, necessarily determining that the decision (1) did not determine "unsettled or new questions of law"; (2) did not modify, clarify, or reverse "an established principle of law"; (3) was not "of general public interest or importance"; and (4) was not "in conflict with a prior opinion of the Court of Appeals." RAP 12.3(d). Instead, the Court of Appeals' decision has "no precedential value" and is "not binding on any court," which belies any argument that review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4). GR 14.1(a). Further, Thomas did not seek publication pursuant to RAP 12.3(e).

Given the clarity of RCW 59.18.210, the infrequency of cases involving unacknowledged leases exceeding one year, and that the Court of Appeals' decision properly applied this Court's precedent without conflicting with any other Court of Appeals decision, Thomas has failed to establish that this case involves a "matter of substantial public interest." Review should be denied.

VI. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review because Thomas has waived and then failed to preserve the issues he presents to this Court and because his petition does not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4.

First, Thomas has already admitted that RCW 59.18.210 converted the two-year unacknowledged lease into a month-to-month lease, waiving that argument. By solely arguing the issue of estoppel below, he has also failed to preserve the issues he now attempts to present to this Court that RCW 59.18.210 is not applicable to an unacknowledged two-year lease. That ship has sailed and Thomas took a different tack.

To the extent this Court wants to reframe Thomas's petition as raising the issue of estoppel, the Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's precedent, its decision in this case does not conflict with other decisions, and this case does not present a matter of substantial public interest for this Court to resolve. Thomas signed a two-year lease, he was in possession,

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